

## MENTAL CAPACITY REPORT: THE WIDER CONTEXT

June 2018 | Issue 86



Welcome to the June 2018 Mental Capacity Report. Highlights this month include:

- (1) In the Health, Welfare and Deprivation of Liberty Report: a rare appellate level decision considering best interests (and confirming that they should be rare);
- (2) In the Property and Affairs Report: (partially) endorsing an attorney's actions after the event;
- (3) In the Practice and Procedure Report: choosing litigation friends:
- (4) In the Wider Context Report: the National Mental Capacity Forum reports, and an important Strasbourg re-cap of the principles applying to capacity;
- (5) In the Scotland Report: a new Public Guardian and the MWC is cautious about attorneys consenting to restrictions on liberty;

You can find all our past issues, our case summaries, and more on our dedicated sub-site <u>here</u>.

#### **Editors**

Alex Ruck Keene Victoria Butler-Cole Neil Allen Annabel Lee Nicola Kohn Katie Scott Simon Edwards (P&A)

Scottish Contributors
Adrian Ward
Jill Stavert

The picture at the top, "Colourful," is by Geoffrey Files, a young man with autism. We are very grateful to him and his family for permission to use his artwork.

## Contents

ENGLAND AND WALES	2
National Mental Capacity Forum Report	2
Ordinary residence disputes in relation to those with impaired capacity	3
New advance care planning assistance	5
Getting things changed	5
HUMAN RIGHTS DEVELOPMENTS	6
Capacity, consent and Strasbourg	6
Involuntary detention – a further go-round in Geneva?	<u>9</u>
World Health Organisation report on institutional care in Europe	11
SEND assistance from abroad	11
OTHER INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENTS OF RELEVANCE	11
Vulnerable Adults – a Singaporean solution?	11
Gibraltar Lasting Powers of Attorney and Capacity Act 2018	13

#### **ENGLAND AND WALES**

## National Mental Capacity Forum Report

The report of Baroness Finlay, Chair of the NMCF, for 2017 has now been <u>published</u>. Aside from giving mentions in dispatches for our guides, the report outlines the work done by the Forum against the four priorities set by the Chair:

- Hearing the voice of the person
- Improving understanding
- Supporting carers
- Reducing/preventing exploitation

The report does not just address work done by the Forum, but also contains very useful examples of good practice from across a wide range of sectors and geographical areas. It concludes with identifying the following priorities for the next year's work:

- 1. The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards proposed by the Law Commission, the Joint Committee on Human Rights inquiry and the Government's responses, as well as the next steps over implementation of improved regulations.
- 2. The current Mental Capacity Act Code of Practice is a strong candidate for interim revision, as some parts are now out of date; this is particularly true of the DoLS additional code.
- 3. The difficulties around transition from children to adult services as a person reaches 18 may need clear guidance to create a more seamless transition to independence and greater protection of

those who will probably never reach independence.

- 4. The cessation of life sustaining nutrition and hydration must be monitored to ensure appropriate protection of the patient, to audit the 'best interests' decision-making processes, and examine the long-term outcomes of such processes. This requires the establishment of a confidential register of such deaths.
- 5. Those who provide advocacy services of any type hold an enormous amount of responsibility for the safeguarding and wellbeing of vulnerable people. It is important that those providing advocacy services are nationally registered and regulated. There is a need for an independent uniform complaints and disciplinary procedure in the event of concerns being raised.
- 6. For decision-making support to be effective, those providing support must listen attentively and non-judgementally to the person with impaired capacity, and identify ways to maximise the person's decisions making ability. This requires people across all walks of life to recognise their responsibility to others they encounter in any sector.

## Ordinary residence disputes in relation to those with impaired capacity

The Department of Health and Social Care has <u>published</u> the latest round of anonymised determinations of ordinary residence disputes from 2017. These disputes quite commonly involve people who lack capacity to make their own decisions about their residence and care.

Insofar as they relate to such issues, the latest determinations are summarised below:

- OR11 P had a moderate learning disability and autism. From 1998, P lived in Council A. first at home with his mother and then from 2004 in a care home. On 10 December 2012. the Court of Protection decided that it was in P's best interests to reside in independent supported living accommodation. On 17 January 2013, P moved to supported living accommodation in Council accommodation was paid for by way of housing benefit. The Secretary of State concluded that P had been ordinary resident in the area of Council B since 17 January 2013.
  - OR 12 P had a diagnosis of Down's Syndrome and learning disability. Prior to March 2015, P lived in supported housing in Council A. P's needs changed and she was assessed as needing a supported living placement. Capacity assessments February and March 2015 concluded that P had capacity to decide where to live and to sign a tenancy agreement. P was offered a choice of two placements and chose a supported living placement in the area of Council B. Council B disputed that P had capacity to move to the supported living placement in the area of Council B. That conclusion was inconsistent with other assessments undertaken by an independent psychiatrist on 26 June 2012 and 24 September 2016, and a different social worker on 22 August 2013. The Secretary of State noted that capacity was time and issue specific and concluded that, on the balance of probabilities, P did have capacity

- to decide to move voluntarily in March 2015 and became ordinary resident in Council B when she moved.
- OR13 P resided in Council B until June 1992 when she suffered an acquired brain injury after being assaulted. She was treated in hospital in the area of Council A between 1992 and 1997. It was agreed that she lacked capacity to make decisions about her residence and care. In 1997, P was discharged to accommodation in the area of Council B. Council A argued that the accommodation hospital was accommodation and that P was ordinarily resident in Council B by virtue of the deeming provision. Council B argued that the accommodation was non-hospital accommodation, that the deeming provision did not apply, and that P was therefore ordinarily resident in Council A. The Secretary of State had no hesitation in finding that the accommodation fell within the definition of a "hospital" as the evidence showed that P was admitted for treatment for her acquired brain injury for both convalescence and/or medical rehabilitation. P was therefore ordinarily resident in Council B from 1997.
- OR14 P lived in her own tenancy in the area of Council B for approximately 50 years. In June 2015, P's GP reported that P was "moderately demented" and recommended a move to 24 hour residential care. Council B assessed P in July 2015 and concluded that she did not meet the eligibility criteria for residential care. P's daughter challenged this conclusion. Another assessment by Council B in
- September 2015 concluded that P had capacity and did not require additional services as P was due to move in with her daughter. On 22 September 2015, P moved to live with her daughter in the area of Council A. In December 2015 P was admitted to hospital in the area of Council A. Council A undertook an assessment of P's needs and concluded that she required residential care to meet her needs. In January 2016, Council A assessed P as lacking capacity to make decisions about her care and residence. P was then discharged to a residential care home in the area of Council A which was funded by Council A. Council A contended that Council B had failed in their duty to meet P's needs and that her move to Council A was not for voluntary or settled purposes. The Secretary of State rejected this argument and proceeded on the basis that P had capacity to make her own decisions as to accommodation and care. The evidence indicated that P wished to move to the area of Council A to live with or nearer her daughter. She was therefore ordinarily resident in the area of Council A.
- oR15 P attended a residential special school in the area of Council B from 2000. In 2009, she was subsequently placed in the area of Council A and the placement involved accommodation funded by the NHS. There was a starting but rebuttable presumption that a person would not acquire an ordinary residence while in NHS funded accommodation but that had to be considered in light of all of the relevant facts. In this regard, there was a dispute as to P's capacity to make decisions about her

residence and care at that time. Although there was no assessment of P's capacity, there was evidence available as to P's cognitive abilities in 2008. The Secretary of State determined that it was more likely than not that P did not have capacity to decide where to live. There was no indication that P's placement in Council A was intended to be temporary or that the area of Council B would remain the focus of her life and activities following her move. The Secretary of State determined that P was ordinarily resident in the area of Council A.

OR16 - P had been diagnosed with a learning disability, schizophrenia and epilepsy along with a number of physical health needs. She had been admitted to various institutions including hospitals from 1964 to 2004 and a care home from 2004 in the area of Council B. There was no dispute that P lacked capacity to decide where to live. It appeared that Council A granted a standard authorisation depriving P of her liberty in the care home. In 2014, Council B was informed that P no longer qualified for "mental health funding" and responsibility for P's care passed to Council B's social services authority. Council B disputed the decision that P was no longer entitled to health services. The Secretary of State determined that P was ordinarily resident in the area of Council B placing weight on (amongst other factors) the fact that P indicated a wish to remain in Council B. that she had lived in Council B since 1971. and that in all the circumstances it would be contrary to common sense to suggest that B was ordinarily resident in Council A.

#### Comment

The ordinary residence test must always be applied to the facts following the approach of *R* (Cornwall Council) v Secretary of State for Health [2015] UKSC 46 (see also our guidance here). These recently published determinations do not set out any new legal principles. However, they do provide useful examples of how the test is applied in practice across a variety of factual circumstances, and the transparency shown in public decision making by the publication of these determinations is very welcome.

## New advance care planning assistance

Compassion in Dying having published a new booklet: 'Planning Ahead: My treatment and care.' It is a practical guide designed to assist both professionals who want to promote Advance Care Planning in their care setting, as well as individuals who want to make plans for their future treatment in line with their beliefs, values and wishes. The booklet can be ordered free of charge here.

### Getting things changed

A report has been <u>published</u> into research led by Bristol University conducted in the light of the implementation of the Equality Act 2010 to better understand the gap between policy and practice, and to see how changes can be made to practices on the terms of disabled people themselves. The objectives of the project were to:

1. identify the barriers facing disabled people in the UK, and understand better how social practices get 'stuck';

- 2. discuss and connect micro and macro theories of social practice, by applying them within the field of disability;
- 3. explore disabled people's own solutions, and understand better the conditions under which 'coproduction' can have an effect on practice;
- 4. develop detailed understanding of how organisations and practices can be shifted, on the terms of disabled people themselves;
- 5. recommend what can be done by disabled people, practitioners and policy makers to tackle the injustices experienced by disabled people.

203 practitioners and 245 disabled people ( with impairments ranging from physical, sensory, mental health issues, autism, learning disabilities and dementia, and many multiple or complex impairments) took part in the research over a 3 year period.

The key recommendations for policy makers and practitioners include:

- All public institutions must have systems in place, preferably led by disabled people, to monitor and report on how they're adhering to the Equality Act 2010.
- Disability needs to be valued as part of increasing diversity within organisations, and to be seen as a way of promoting better ways of doing things.
- Informal, more relaxed settings are often the key to better practices, for instance in personal support but also at universities, within hospital waiting rooms, or in dementia groups.

#### **HUMAN RIGHTS DEVELOPMENTS**

## Capacity, consent and Strasbourg

Shakulina & Ors v Russia [2018] ECHR 464 (European Court of Human Rights (Third Section))

Article 5 – deprivation of liberty – mental capacity - assessing capacity

### Summary

This case concerned six Russians who had been deprived of their capacity; four complained of serious irregularities in the court proceedings whereby they had been deprived of their legal capacity. One applicant also complained of her involuntary confinement in a psychiatric facility.

#### Articles 6 and 8 ECHR

The Strasbourg court took the opportunity to undertake a useful recap of the provisions of Articles 8 ECHR in the context of deprivation of legal capacity, emphasising that such constitutes a serious interference with a person's private life, leading (in the applicants' case) to the loss of their "autonomy in almost all spheres of their life for an indefinite period of time."

Whilst the ECtHR emphasised that "in such a complex matter as determining someone's mental capacity, the national authorities should have a wide margin of appreciation because they have the benefit of direct contact with the persons concerned and are therefore particularly well placed to determine such issues," the court reminded us that the extent of the State's margin of appreciation depends on two major factors:

1. the nature of the issues and the importance of the interests at stake. Thus, very serious

limitations in the sphere of private life or restrictions on the fundamental rights of a particularly vulnerable social group may warrant stricter scrutiny.

2. the quality of the domestic procedure which resulted in the interference. Although Article 8 of the Convention contains no explicit procedural requirements, the decision-making process involved in measures of interference must be fair and such as to ensure due respect for the interests safeguarded by Article 8.

Key aspects of the judicial decision-making process determining a person's legal capacity include:

- whether or not the person concerned had had a possibility to participate personally and/or had had some form of representation in the incapacitation proceedings;
- 2. whether the person concerned had been able to appeal against the incapacitation decision;
- 3. whether, after the lapse of a certain period of time, an automatic review of the legal status or direct access to the court had been available to incapacitated people; and
- 4. whether the experts assessing the state of health of the incapacitated people had been neutral.

The court noted that it had previously examined whether:

1. the national courts had relied on an up-todate medical expert report;

- 2. whether the medical experts and subsequently the national courts had not only found the existence of a mental disorder, but had also assessed the nature or degree of the disorder as warranting legal incapacitation; and
- 3. whether the national courts had examined evidence other than the medical expert report and analysed other factors in their determination of a person's legal capacity.

The court noted that it had previously found violations of Article 8 of the Convention in situations where the national courts, by virtue of the domestic law, had been unable to provide a tailor-made response to a person's particular circumstances and had had the choice only between full capacity or total incapacitation of the person concerned.

Applying those principles to the cases before it, and on facts that are not directly relevant for our purposes, the court had little hesitation in finding that the Article 8 rights of the individuals concerned had been breached. The court further noted that noted that the different nature of the interests protected by Articles 6 and 8 of the Convention may require separate examination of the claims lodged under these provisions, but that in the present cases having regard to the findings under Article about procedural defects in the incapacitation proceedings it was not necessary to consider Article 6 separately.

#### Article 5

Ms Shakulina also complained of her involuntary psychiatric confinement. An emergency doctor had ordered the her urgent hospitalisation on account of her deteriorating state of health. In particular, she had been living in insanitary

conditions, had not been paying utility charges, had been using an open fire, had been cooking on a radiator, and had delusional ideas about her neighbours. Her brother, who was her legal guardian at the time, consented to her hospitalisation. The psychiatric hospital then became her guardian, and consented to the hospitalisation. She was then subsequently detained on the basis of an order of the District Court, acting on expert opinion to the effect that she had schizophrenia.

In a further addition to the small but important body on the nature of consent to confinement (analysed in Alex's paper here), the court noted that it appeared that the government was claiming the applicant's treatment in the psychiatric hospital had been voluntary because her guardians had consented to it and that, thus, the applicant was not deprived of her liberty within the meaning of Article 5(1) of the Convention. Relying on its analysis in the earlier Shtukaturov case, the court found that: "even though the applicant was legally incapacitated, it did not preclude her from understanding her situation and expressing her opinion on the matter [and that] she was able to understand her situation and did not agree to her psychiatric confinement. Therefore, she was deprived of her liberty for the purposes of Article 5 § 1 of the Convention."

Whilst the court found that Ms Shakulina was undeniably suffering from a mental disorder and

thus could be considered "a person of unsound mind," there had not been any proper analysis of the kind or degree of the applicant's mental disorder and a number of serious procedural defects in the judicial authorisation of her continued involuntary psychiatric confinement. Her deprivation of liberty was therefore unlawful.

### Comment

On one view, the observations of the court in relation to incapacitation relate to a far-off legal procedure of which we know little. However, the reality is that appointment of a deputy under the MCA or a guardian under the Adults with Incapacity Act may <sup>1</sup> have the effect of amounting to legal incapacitation of the individual in question, at least in respect of all decisions within the scope of the deputy/quardian's authority.

This judgment should again make us ask whether the changes in the Court of Protection Rules in (now) rule 1, introducing the menu of options for P's participation — which were introduced in large part in response to the earlier case-law of the court — go far enough? And what of the position in Scotland in relation to guardianship applications?

This judgment is also of interest for the fact that no reference is made to the CRPD, despite the fact that the case was brought by the admirable MDAC (now <u>Validity</u>), who have been assiduous

appointment and retention of a mentor for him was therefore solely contingent on the determination that the applicant was unable to understand the significance of that particular issue. This determination in turn depended on the assessment of the applicant's intellectual capacity in conjunction with and in relation to all the aspects of that specific issue." (AM-V v Finland [2017] ECHR 273).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> We say "may" because we note that Strasbourg appeared to consider that that the Finnish system, which allows for a "mentor" to represent a "ward" in relation to matters pertaining to their person only where the latter is "unable to understand its significance" did not amount to a deprivation of restriction of legal capacity, because "the interference with the applicant's freedom to choose where and with whom to live that resulted from the

in other cases in highlighting its provisions. In any event, however, the judgment does not suggest that the Strasbourg court considers that measures to remove or limit legal capacity on the basis of (in CRPD terms) psychosocial disability are per se unlawful. Rather, the court proceeds on the basis that they constitute a serious interference with the rights of the individual, must proceed on the basis of proper evidence and suitable procedural protections, and, crucially, represent a tailor-made solution to the circumstances of the individual. It would be interesting to see how the Strasbourg court reacted to the provisions of s.5 MCA 2005 which, as they stand, represents both a much less draconian - and more tailor-made - way of responding to temporary or permanent impairment of capacity, but, conversely, a measure which is surrounded with very few procedural safeguards.

Finally, it is difficult when reading the discussion of whether Ms Shakulina was consenting to her confinement not to have in mind the recent <u>blog</u> by Mark Neary about the capacity assessment being undertaken for his son for purposes of the 'community DOLS' application being prepared by Hillingdon. If the 'test' that was being set was whether was able to express a view on the matter, one might think that he both could and does – and that, on this test, he should not be considered to be deprived of his liberty.

## Involuntary detention – a further go-round in Geneva?

For those who have been following the split in Geneva between the UN bodies as to whether

involuntary detention and/or treatment is ever permitted (as to which, see further <a href="here">here</a>), the most recent opinion of the Human Rights Council Working Group on Arbitrary Detention ('WGAD') makes fascinating reading.<sup>2</sup>

The WGAD was considering a complaint relating to Japan regarding the detention, on (broadly) psychiatric grounds of a Mr N. The WGAD, noted that:

35. The Working Group notes that article 9 of the Covenant [i.e. the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights] requires that no one shall be deprived of his or her liberty except on such grounds and in accordance with such procedures as are established by national law. In the present case, the Working Group observes that article 29 of the Act on Mental Health and Welfare for the Mentally Disabled (Act No. 123 of 1950) permits hospitalization only when two or more designated mental health doctors have made the same judgment that the person in question has a psychiatric disorder and that he or she could harm himself or herself or others due to his or her psychiatric disorder unless he or she is hospitalized for medical care and protection. In such a case, the Governor of the Prefecture shall inform the person in question, in writing, of the fact that he or she is to be involuntarily admitted.

36. Without making any assessment of the compatibility of the above-mentioned provisions of the Act on Mental Health and Welfare for the Mentally Disabled with the international human rights obligations of Japan, it appears obvious to the Working Group that those provisions were not followed during the involuntary hospitalization of Mr. N.

[...]

<u>pinions/Session81/A\_HRC\_WGAD\_2018\_8.pdf</u>, in advanced unedited form.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It is available here http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Detention/Q

38. The Working Group wishes to underline that any instance of deprivation of liberty, including internment in psychiatric hospitals, must meet the standards set out in article 9 of the Covenant. The Working Group, in the United Nations Basic Principles and Guidelines on Remedies and Procedures on the Right of Anyone Deprived of Their Liberty to Bring Proceedings before a Court, states that, where a person with a disability is deprived of his or her liberty through any process, that person is, on an equal basis with others, entitled to guarantees in accordance with international human rights law, necessarily including the right to liberty and security of person, reasonable accommodation and humane treatment in accordance with the objectives and principles of the highest standards of international law pertaining to the rights of persons with disabilities. A mechanism complete with due process of law guarantees shall be established to review cases of placement in any situation of deprivation of liberty without specific, free and informed consent. Such reviews are to include the possibility of appeal.

[...]

45. The Working Group also notes that Japan has been a party to the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities since 20 January 2014. The Working Group reiterates that it is contrary to the provisions of article 14 of the Convention to deprive a person of his or her liberty on the basis of disability. Moreover, as stated in the Basic Principles and Guidelines, the involuntary committal or internment of persons on the grounds of the existence of an impairment or perceived impairment is prohibited.

46. The Working Group once again wishes to emphasize that Mr. N was initially detained for the minor offence of attempted theft of a can of carbonated drink. Neither at the time of his detention nor prior to that there is any evidence of Mr. N being violent or otherwise

presenting a danger to himself and/or to others. His subsequent transfer to Tokyo Metropolitan Matsuzawa Hospital had no connection to the initial incident of attempted theft. It is therefore clear to the Working Group that the deprivation of liberty of Mr. N was carried out purely on the basis of his psychiatric disorder, and was thus discriminatory (emphasis added).

From paragraph 46, it would appear, therefore, that the WGAD takes the view (as does, inter alia, the UN Human Rights Committee) that it is lawful to deprive a person of their liberty where they both have a psychiatric disorder and either pose a risk to themselves or others. Paragraph 45 suggests that the WGAD consider that they are, in so doing, applying Article 14 CRPD. The CRPD Committee by contrast takes the view (in its Guidelines on Article 14) that "the involuntary detention of persons with disabilities based on risk or dangerousness, alleged need of care or treatment or other reasons tied to impairment or health diagnosis is contrary to the right to liberty, and amounts to arbitrary deprivation of liberty."

We also note in this context the admissibility decision (in November 2017, but which has only just come to our attention) of the Strasbourg court in *N v Romania*. In its – now usual – review of relevant international instruments, the court took specific note both of Article 14 CRPD and of the Committee's guidelines on the Article (see both paras 102-3 and 147). However, these did not lead the court to conclude that deprivation of the liberty on the basis of unsoundness of mind was, per se, unlawful, as the Committee contends (see the review of general principles at paras 141-142). Rather, and in similar vein to the WGAD, the court proceeded on the basis that Article 14(1)(b) CRPD was aimed at stopping situations where the sole reason for detention

was the individual's disability: see paragraph 159 and the discussion in the preceding paragraphs about the absent of evidence that Mr N posed any danger to society.

## World Health Organisation report on institutional care in Europe

A report <u>published</u> in June by a WHO project on adults with psychosocial and intellectual disabilities living in institutions in the WHO European Region examined a total of 75 institutions across 24 countries in the Region and Kosovo using the WHO QualityRights Toolkit. Out of all the quality ratings made, only 25% showed compliance with international standards, meaning that long-term institutional care in the Region has significant room for improvement. As the report identifies:

long-term institutional care for people with psychosocial and intellectual disabilities in many European countries is far below the standard. A significant proportion of the assessed institutions were violating the fundamental rights of people with psychosocial and intellectual disabilities, including their legal capacity, autonomy, dignity, liberty and security of person, physical and mental integrity and freedom from torture and ill treatment and from exploitation, violence and abuse. Some of the most egregious violations reported were: use of mechanical and pharmacological restraints to manage difficult behaviour, a culture of impunity with regard to reported cases of sexual abuse. numerous irregularities concernina informed consent, discrimination and barriers to access to high-quality care for general and reproductive health, lack of alternative or complementary mental health treatment options and a general lack of opportunities for meaningful daily activities within or outside the institutions.

#### SEND assistance from abroad

For those seeking to make arguments based upon the CRPD before the SEND Tribunal, in particular for measures to be taken to ensure provision of education on an inclusive basis, we would suggest that reference might usefully be made to the detailed <a href="report">report</a> just issued (so far in advanced unedited form) by the CRPD Committee in response to a complaint against Spain in relation to its provision of special educational needs.

## OTHER INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENTS OF RELEVANCE

## Vulnerable Adults – a Singaporean solution?

On 18 May 2018, the Government of Singapore passed the Vulnerable Adults Act (a link to the Bill is here, which we understand was passed without amendment). The passing of the Act follows extensive consultations and engagements with the public and stakeholders with strong support for the Bill, with many acknowledging the problems associated with Singapore's rapidly ageing population. The Act is intended to provide greater protections for vulnerable adults. Section 4(1) sets out the key principles:

- (1) In performing any duty or exercising any power under this Act in relation to a vulnerable adult, the Director and every protector, approved welfare officer and enforcement officer must have regard to the following principles:
  - (a) the duty is being performed or the power is being exercised for the purpose of protecting the

- vulnerable adult from abuse, neglect and self-neglect;
- (b) a vulnerable adult, where not lacking mental capacity, is generally best placed to decide how he or she wishes to live and whether or not to accept any assistance:
- (c) if a vulnerable adult lacks mental capacity, the vulnerable adult's views (whether past or present), wishes, feelings, values and beliefs, where reasonably ascertainable, must be considered;
- (d) regard must be had to whether the purpose for which the duty is being performed or the power is being exercised can be achieved in a way that is less restrictive of the vulnerable adult's rights and freedom of action;
- (e) in all matters relating to the administration or application of this Act, the welfare and best interests of the vulnerable adult must be the first and paramount consideration.

The Vulnerable Adults Act is intended to complement existing laws that protect vulnerable individuals such as the Women's Charter and Mental Capacity Act (the latter modelled very closely upon the English MCA 2005). The powers conferred in the Act enable the State to intervene by way of, for example, entering a vulnerable adult's premises (section 8), assessing his or her condition (section 6), and relocating that individual to a place of safety (section 11) if he or she is at risk. The threshold for exercising these powers is a high one – either

the individual must be a "vulnerable adult" (defined as an individual over the age of 18 and is, by reason of mental or physical infirmity, disability or incapacity, incapable of protecting himself or herself from abuse, neglect or selfneglect) and who is experiencing or at risk of abuse, neglect or self-neglect (section 5). According to the Ministry of Social and Family Development ("MSF"), the Act is designed to be used as a matter of last resort where family and community interventions have been exhausted or are ineffective. The Minister for Social and Family Development made a public plea for the community to step forward and break the silence by reporting any suspected cases of abuse, neglect or self-neglect. The Act protects whistleblowers from civil and criminal liability as long as they act with reasonable care and in good faith. The MSF intends to bring the law into force before the end of the year.

It is instructive to consider from our perspective what we might learn from overseas jurisdictions dealing with similar problems and concerns. In our domestic legal system, the regime of last resort which is deployed to protect vulnerable adults is the inherent jurisdiction of the High Court - a device which was called "the great safety net" by Lord Donaldson MR in Re F [1990] 2 AC 1 cited with approval by the (soon to be) President of the Court of Protection. Lord Justice McFarlane, in <u>A Local Authority v DL</u> [2012] EWCA Civ 253. That "the great safety net" of the inherent jurisdiction has survived the passing of the Mental Capacity Act 2005 in England and Wales is not now in doubt. However, what is far from clear is the precise remit of the inherent jurisdiction and the circumstances in which it can – and should – be exercised. This is often left to be tested on a case by case basis. There

is an argument that a codified statutory framework, along the lines of the Singapore Vulnerable Adults Act, setting out the principles, powers and circumstances in which those powers can be exercised, might provide greater certainty and confidence to act (or refrain from acting) in what are very often extremely difficult, sensitive and delicate circumstances. Scotland already has a statutory framework for the protection of adults at risk of harm in the Adult Support and Protection (Scotland) Act 2007.

The express protection for whistleblowers might also engender a culture of more openness which is particularly critical where acts of abuse take place behind closed doors. It will be interesting to see how the Singapore Vulnerable Adults Act is interpreted and utilised in practice in future years.

## Gibraltar Lasting Powers of Attorney and Capacity Act 2018

This new <u>law</u> came into effect in April 2018, including provisions (modelled on the MCA) relating to lasting powers of attorney and advance decisions, and a scheme (modelled on that in the <u>Jersey Capacity and Self-</u> Determination Law 2016) for authorising 'significant restrictions upon liberty.' It will be interesting seeing how these statutory definitions fare before the courts, hooked as they are very much on redefining the objective 'acid test' in ways that, on their face, may appear to water down the universality of the meaning of the right to liberty so strongly emphasised by Lady Hale in Cheshire West.

## **Editors and Contributors**



#### Alex Ruck Keene: alex.ruckkeene@39essex.com

Alex is recommended as a 'star junior' in Chambers & Partners for his Court of Protection work. He has been in cases involving the MCA 2005 at all levels up to and including the Supreme Court. He also writes extensively, has numerous academic affiliations, including as Wellcome Research Fellow at King's College London, and created the website www.mentalcapacitylawandpolicy.org.uk. To view full CV click here.



## Victoria Butler-Cole: vb@39essex.com

Victoria regularly appears in the Court of Protection, instructed by the Official Solicitor, family members, and statutory bodies, in welfare, financial and medical cases. Together with Alex, she co-edits the Court of Protection Law Reports for Jordans. She is a contributing editor to Clayton and Tomlinson 'The Law of Human Rights', a contributor to 'Assessment of Mental Capacity' (Law Society/BMA 2009), and a contributor to Heywood and Massey Court of Protection Practice (Sweet and Maxwell). To view full CV click here.



### Neil Allen: neil.allen@39essex.com

Neil has particular interests in human rights, mental health and incapacity law and mainly practises in the Court of Protection. Also a lecturer at Manchester University, he teaches students in these fields, trains health, social care and legal professionals, and regularly publishes in academic books and journals. Neil is the Deputy Director of the University's Legal Advice Centre and a Trustee for a mental health charity. To view full CV click here.



### Annabel Lee: annabel.lee@39essex.com

Annabel has experience in a wide range of issues before the Court of Protection, including medical treatment, deprivation of liberty, residence, care contact, welfare, property and financial affairs, and has particular expertise in complex cross-border jurisdiction matters. She is a contributing editor to 'Court of Protection Practice' and an editor of the Court of Protection Law Reports. She sits on the London Committee of the Court of Protection Practitioners Association. To view full CV click <a href="heterogeneering-



#### Nicola Kohn: nicola.kohn@39essex.com

Nicola appears regularly in the Court of Protection in health and welfare matters. She is frequently instructed by the Official Solicitor as well as by local authorities, CCGs and care homes. She is a contributor to the 4<sup>th</sup> edition of the *Assessment of Mental Capacity: A Practical Guide for Doctors and Lawyers* (BMA/Law Society 2015). To view full CV click here.

## **Editors and Contributors**



Katie Scott: katie.scott@39essex.com

Katie advises and represents clients in all things health related, from personal injury and clinical negligence, to community care, mental health and healthcare regulation. The main focus of her practice however is in the Court of Protection where she has a particular interest in the health and welfare of incapacitated adults. She is also a qualified mediator, mediating legal and community disputes, and is chair of the London Group of the Court of Protection Practitioners Association. To view full CV click here.



Simon Edwards: simon.edwards@39essex.com

Simon has wide experience of private client work raising capacity issues, including *Day v Harris & Ors* [2013] 3 WLR 1560, centred on the question whether Sir Malcolm Arnold had given manuscripts of his compositions to his children when in a desperate state or later when he was a patient of the Court of Protection. He has also acted in many cases where deputies or attorneys have misused P's assets. To view full CV click here.



Adrian Ward: adw@tcyoung.co.uk

Adrian is a recognised national and international expert in adult incapacity law. While still practising he acted in or instructed many leading cases in the field. He has been continuously involved in law reform processes. His books include the current standard Scottish texts on the subject. His awards include an MBE for services to the mentally handicapped in Scotland; national awards for legal journalism, legal charitable work and legal scholarship; and the lifetime achievement award at the 2014 Scottish Legal Awards.



Jill Stavert: j.stavert@napier.ac.uk

Jill Stavert is Professor of Law, Director of the Centre for Mental Health and Capacity Law and Director of Research, The Business School, Edinburgh Napier University. Jill is also a member of the Law Society for Scotland's Mental Health and Disability Sub-Committee, Alzheimer Scotland's Human Rights and Public Policy Committee, the South East Scotland Research Ethics Committee 1, and the Scottish Human Rights Commission Research Advisory Group. She has undertaken work for the Mental Welfare Commission for Scotland (including its 2015 updated guidance on Deprivation of Liberty). To view full CV click here.

## Conferences

# Conferences at which editors/contributors are speaking

# Court of Protection seminar: The capacity to marry and divorce, and damages in the Court of Protection

Tor is speaking, with Fenella Morris QC, at a seminar organised by Irwin Mitchell on 21 June in London. For more details, and to book, please use this <u>email address</u>.

#### Other conferences of interest

## **UK Mental Disability Law Conference**

The Second UK Mental Disability Law Conference takes place on 26 and 27 June 2018, hosted jointly by the School of Law at the University of Nottingham and the Institute of Mental Health, with the endorsement of the Human Rights Law Centre at the University of Nottingham. For more details, see <a href="here">here</a>.

## **Towards Liberty Protection Safeguards**

This conference being held on 24 September in London will look at where the law is and where it might go in relation to deprivation of liberty. For more details, and book, see <u>here</u>.

## Advertising conferences and training events

you would like your conference or training event to be included in this section in a subsequent issue, please contact one of the editors. Save for those conferences or training events that are run by non-profit bodies, we would invite a donation of £200 to be made to the dementia charity Mv Life Films in return for postings for English and Welsh events. For Scottish events, we are inviting donations to Alzheimer Scotland Action on Dementia.

Our next report will be out in early July. Please email us with any judgments or other news items which you think should be included. If you do not wish to receive this Report in the future please contact: marketing@39essex.com.

### Michael Kaplan

Senior Clerk michael.kaplan@39essex.com

#### Sheraton Doyle

Senior Practice Manager sheraton.doyle@39essex.com

#### Peter Campbell

Senior Practice Manager peter.campbell@39essex.com







International Arbitration Chambers of the Year 2014 Legal 500

Environment & Planning Chambers of the Year 2015

clerks@39essex.com • DX: London/Chancery Lane 298 • 39essex.com

#### LONDON

81 Chancery Lane, London WC2A 1DD Tel: +44 (0)20 7832 1111 Fax: +44 (0)20 7353 3978

#### MANCHESTER

82 King Street, Manchester M2 4WQ Tel: +44 (0)16 1870 0333 Fax: +44 (0)20 7353 3978

#### SINGAPORE

Maxwell Chambers, #02-16 32, Maxwell Road Singapore 069115 Tel: +(65) 6634 1336

#### KUALA LUMPUR

#02-9, Bangunan Sulaiman, Jalan Sultan Hishamuddin 50000 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia: +(60)32 271 1085

<sup>39</sup> Essex Chambers is an equal opportunities employer.

<sup>39</sup> Essex Chambers LLP is a governance and holding entity and a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (registered number 0C360005) with its registered office at 81 Chancery Lane, London WC2A 1DD.

<sup>39</sup> Essex Chambers' members provide legal and advocacy services as independent, self-employed barristers and no entity connected with 39 Essex Chambers provides any legal services.

<sup>39</sup> Essex Chambers (Services) Limited manages the administrative, operational and support functions of Chambers and is a company incorporated in England and Wales (company number 7385894) with its registered office at 81 Chancery Lane, London WC2A TDD.